095

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

10/4

SEP 9 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Chief Deputy Clerk

**SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**

**STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPT. OF  
TRANSPORTATION,**

**Appellant,**

**vs.**

**Case No. 82,175**

**MICCOSUKEE VILLAGE SHOPPING  
CENTER, et al.**

**Appellee.**

\_\_\_\_\_ /

**JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER  
MICCOSUKEE VILLAGE SHOPPING CENTER, LTD.**

**ALAN E. DeSERIO, ESQUIRE**  
Fla. Bar No. 155394  
**BRIGHAM, MOORE, GAYLORD,  
ULMER AND SCHUSTER**  
777 South Harbour Island Blvd.  
Suite 900  
Tampa, Florida 33602  
(813)229-8811

**JOSEPH W. FIXEL, ESQUIRE**  
Fla. Bar No. 0192026  
211 South Gadsden Street  
Tallahassee, Florida 32301

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Respondent in this cause is the State of Florida, Department of Transportation. For the purposes of this brief they will be referred to as the "DOT." The Petitioner, Miccosukee Village Shopping Center, Ltd., will be referred to as the "owners" or "Miccosukee."

References to the Appendix accompanying the Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief will be by the symbol "A". References to the transcript of the Summary Judgment hearing will be referred to by the symbol "TR".

## STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The Complaint filed in this cause alleges that a vacant tract of land owned by Miccosukee Village, was burdened with maps of reservation filed by the DOT, pursuant to § 337.241, *Fla. Stat.* (1988), in October 1988 and July 1989. (Paragraph 6). Attached to the Complaint, as exhibits, was a certified copy of a warranty deed containing a full legal description of the property and copies of the maps of reservation. (Exhibits A; C; D). Exhibits C and D reflect, as alleged in the Complaint, that the maps of reservation covered a significant portion of the owners' property and bisected the property into two segments.

It was alleged that the owners' property was being reserved in order to prevent any use of the property until the DOT's plans for construction of the Capital Circle project could be finalized and implemented. (Paragraph 7). The Complaint further alleged that, § 337.241, *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1988), prohibited any construction, or the issuance of any

development permits for a five year period, which could be extended for an additional five years; that the statute denied the owner the right to construct upon or develop the property covered by the map of reservation, "freezing" the development of the property for the benefit of the DOT; and that the statute did not require the DOT to acquire the property during the ten year period, or go forward with the project for which the property had been reserved. (Complaint, paragraphs 8; 9; 10).

The Complaint also alleged that the map of reservation left the property, within the reserved area, with no utility or economically beneficial use; denied the owner the investment-backed expectations it had with regard to the property; and denied the substantial beneficial use of the owners' property. (Complaint, paragraphs 11; 12; 13).

In paragraph 15, the Complaint referred to the decision rendered by the Florida Supreme Court in *Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Dep't of Transp.*, 563 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1990). In describing the character of the decision it was alleged that the court ruled that, § 337.241(2) and (3), *Fla. Stat.* (1987), unconstitutionally permitted the state to take private property in violation of the United States and Florida Constitutions and that the Supreme Court ruled that the map of reservation provisions did not advance a legitimate state interest.

In Paragraphs 17 and 18 of the Complaint, citing to the Supreme Court ruling in *Joint Ventures, Inc.*, the owners alleged that the filing of the map of reservation pursuant to the unconstitutional statutory provision, resulted in a temporary taking of their property without payment of full compensation. It further alleged that because the statutory provisions failed to advance a legitimate state interest, the filing of the map of reservation constituted a temporary taking of the owners' property.

The Motion for Summary Judgment, citing to the decisions of *Joint Ventures, Inc. v. DOT*, 563 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1990) and *Orlando/Orange Cnty Expressway Auth. v. W&F Agrigrowth-Fernfield, Ltd.*, 582 So.2d 790 (Fla. 1991), alleged that there were no material facts in dispute with regard to the fact that the map of reservation provisions failed to advance a legitimate state interest and, therefore, the application of those provisions to the subject property constituted a "taking" in violation of the United States and Florida Constitutions. There were no allegations in the motion relating to the economic impact that the maps of reservation had upon the property.

At the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment counsel for the DOT agreed that there were two tests to determine if a "taking" of private property had occurred, "[o]ne being an economic test. The other being a non-economic test." (TR:11). Counsel for the DOT then continued:

The economic is whether the regulation denies an owner economic, viable use of his property. And the non-economic test, that being whether the ordinance or regulation advances legitimate state interest. And both of these are very important. (Emphasis supplied). (TR:11).

Counsel for the DOT subsequently stated that it was their position that "the Plaintiffs have not been denied substantial economic use of the property" (TR:15), and that the question of whether a deprivation of substantial economic use of the property had occurred was a question of fact to be resolved by the trial court at a hearing on the "taking" issue. (TR:22).

Later in that same hearing the following colloquy took place between the trial judge and counsel for DOT:

THE COURT: But, at least, as to the issue of taking, doesn't Joint Ventures read in conjunction with the Agrigrowth case, doesn't that pretty much dictate that the recordation of the map of reservation is by law, a taking?

MR. PANTALEON: Your Honor, I would agree that to the extent that Agrigrowth is an out-cropping from the district court, Fifth District, that just by the mere recordation there exists a temporary taking." (Emphasis supplied). (TR:23)

In the Order Granting Summary Judgment (A:3-7) the trial court did not rule that a "taking" had occurred because the owner had been denied the substantial economic beneficial use of the property. Rather, the order merely stated that "the temporary takings were accomplished by the application of the reservation maps to the Plaintiff's property." In support of this finding the trial court cited to the decisions of *Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Dep't of Transp.*, 563 So.2d 622, 625 (Fla. 1990) and *Orlando-Orange Cnty Expressway Auth. v. W&F Agrigrowth-Fernfield, Ltd.*, 582 So.2d 790 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991). Attached to the Order were reduced versions of the two maps of reservation that were imposed upon the property. (A:6-7)

On appeal the district court entered an opinion on March 22, 1993, [18 Fla.L. Weekly D827](A:1) affirming the summary judgment based upon this Court's decision in *Joint*

*Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation*, 563 So. 2d 622 (Fla. 1990), as interpreted by the decision of *Orlando/Orange County Expressway Authority v. W. & F. Agrigrowth-Fernfield, Ltd.*, 582 So. 2d 790 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), rev. denied, 591 So. 2d 183 (Fla. 1991). The district court also cited as authority the decision of *Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Authority v. A.G.W.S. Corp.*, 608 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992), (A:10-17) which is currently pending before this Court in Case No. 80,656. The district court then certified a question to this Court, which slightly modified that posed in the *A.G.W.S. Corp.* case:

WHETHER [BY VIRTUE OF THE HOLDING IN JOINT VENTURES, INC. v. DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, 563 SO. 2D 622 (FLA. 1990),] ALL LANDOWNERS WITH PROPERTY INSIDE THE BOUNDARIES OF INVALIDATED MAPS OF RESERVATION UNDER SUBSECTIONS 337.241(2) AND (3), FLORIDA STATUTES (1987), ARE LEGALLY ENTITLED [IN INVERSE CONDEMNATION ACTIONS] TO RECEIVE PER SE DECLARATIONS OF TAKING AND JURY TRIALS TO DETERMINE JUST COMPENSATION.

On rehearing, the district court withdrew its previous opinion, this time reversing the summary judgment. [18 Fla.L.Weekly D1572] (A:2). The district court based its decision upon *Department of Transportation v. Weisenfeld*, 617 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993)[Judges Goshorn, Peterson, Diamantis dissenting], wherein the 5th District receded from its prior decision in *W&F Agrigrowth-Fernfield, Ltd.*, 582 So. 2d at 790. The majority in *Weisenfeld* certified that its decision was in direct conflict with the *A.G.W.S. Corp.* decision. *Weisenfeld*, 617 So. 2d at 1074. *Weisenfeld* is now pending before this Court in Case No. 81,653.

In the second opinion rendered the district court stated:

In adopting such an approach, we recognize that our opinion herein expressly conflicts with the opinion of the Second District in *Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Authority v. A.G.W.S. Corp.*, 608 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2d DCA



1992), pet. for review filed, Case no. 80,656 (Fla. Oct. 21, 1992). Id. at D1572.

The petitioner, Miccosukee Village Shopping Center, timely filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this court, based upon the above statement of the district court recognizing express conflict with the *A.G.W.S. Corp.* decision. (A:8-9) It was the understanding of the undersigned that the district court statement was sufficient to meet the requirements of Fla.R.App.Pro. 9.120(d), and that no jurisdictional brief was necessary. The undersigned was informed by phone, on September 7, 1993, that the statement of district court relied upon was not sufficient to avoid the jurisdictional brief requirements and that a jurisdictional brief should be filed as soon as possible. This brief is submitted in compliance with that request.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There are a number of justifications for this Court to exercise conflict jurisdiction in this cause. These include: a statement by the lower court that its decision is in conflict with that of another district court (A:2); that the decision of the lower court relies upon another decision which expressly stated that it was in conflict with the decision of another district court; that the decision of the lower court relies upon a decision that is currently under review by this Court in Case No. 81-653; and that the opinion of the lower court expressly and directly conflicts with the *Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Authority v. A.G.W.S. Corp.*, 608 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (A:10-17), which is also under review before this Court in Case No. 80,656.

## BASIS FOR EXERCISING JURISDICTION

### A. STATEMENT BY DISTRICT COURT OF EXPRESS CONFLICT.

When rendering its final opinion the district court stated that the decision "expressly conflicts" with *A.G.W.S. Corp.*, 608 So. 2d at 52. While the district court did not use the term "certify" in its statement, it is clear that an invitation to resolve the conflict has been made and that invitation should be accepted.

### B. RELIANCE UPON A DECISION WHICH WAS CERTIFIED TO BE IN CONFLICT WITH THE A.G.W.S. CORP. DECISION.

In its final opinion the district court cited as authority the decision of *Department of Transportation v. Weisenfeld*, 617 So. 2d at 1071. The majority opinion in *Weisenfeld* specifically certified that its decision was in conflict with *A.G.W.S. Corp.* See *Weisenfeld*, 617 So. 2d at 1074. Given the fact that the district court in this cause has expressed conflict, and has relied upon a decision which likewise expresses conflict with *A.G.W.S. Corp.*, the conflict jurisdiction of this Court should be exercised.

### C. RELIANCE UPON A DECISION WHICH IS CURRENTLY PENDING BEFORE THIS COURT.

The *Weisenfeld* decision relied upon by the court in this cause, is currently pending before this court in Case No. 81-653. This court may, therefore, exercise conflict jurisdiction over the cause at hand. *Jollie v. State*, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981); *Mathis v. Foote Steel Corp.*, 515 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1987); *Childers v. Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc.*, 540 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 1989).

### D. THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT IN THIS CAUSE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH A.G.W.S. CORP. ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

In *A.G.W.S. Corp.* and in *Miccosukee Village* the owners filed inverse condemnation

claims alleging that the imposition of a map of reservation upon their respective properties resulting in a "taking" of property without the payment of full compensation. In both cases the owners moved for and obtained partial summary judgments on the "taking" issue based upon this Court's decision in *Joint Ventures, Inc.* On appeal the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed the granting of the summary judgment on the "taking" issue, finding that such a result was required by the decision in *Joint Ventures, Inc.* The First District Court of Appeal reversed the summary judgment on the same legal issue, citing to *Weisenfeld*, which held that the decision in *Joint Ventures, Inc.* did not determine the "taking" issue. The opinions are irreconcilable and, on the face of the opinion rendered in the cause at hand, the district court specifically recognizes that conflict exists. Given the legal issue presented, and the fact that the district courts have resolved that issue in a conflicting manner, jurisdiction should be exercised to resolve that conflict.

#### CONCLUSION


Conflict jurisdiction should be exercised in this cause. The decision of the district court should be quashed and the order granting summary judgment in favor of Miccosukee Village Shopping Center, Ltd., on the "taking" issue, should be reinstated.