#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICCOSUKEE VILLAGE SHOPPING CENTER, et al.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO.: 82,175

STATE OF FLORIDA, DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.
-------------

# JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT STATE OF FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION

Thornton J. Williams
General Counsel
MARIANNE A. TRUSSELL
Assistant General Counsel
FLORIDA BAR NO.: 437166
Department of Transportation
605 Suwannee Street, MS 58
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0458
(904) 488-9425

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

For purposes of this brief, the Respondent, STATE OF FLORIDA,
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, will be referred to as the
"DEPARTMENT". The Petitioner, MICCOSUKEE VILLAGE SHOPPING CENTER,
LTD., will be referred to as the "VILLAGE".

References to the Appendix accompanying the Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief will be referred to by the symbol "A" followed by the appropriate page number(s). References to the transcript of the Summary Judgment hearing will be referred to by the symbol "TR" followed by the appropriate page number(s).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts, for the most part, Petitioner's statement of the case and facts but specifically rejects the Petitioner's inappropriate argument and quoted testimony taken out of context as appear on pages 3 and 4.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal emanates from an inverse condemnation action grounded on the filing of a map of reservation. The circuit court granted summary judgment in favor of the VILLAGE based upon Joint Ventures and Agrigrowth. (A. 1) By the time rehearing was granted the Fifth District Court of Appeal had receded from its opinion in Agrigrowth. Department of Transportation v. Weisenfeld, 617 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998). Accordingly, the first district withdrew its prior opinion and found in favor of Department citing to State of Florida Department of Transportation v. Weisenfeld. Miccosukee Village Shopping Center, 18 Fla. L. Weekly D1572 (Fla. The First District Court of Appeal has 1st DCA July 7, 1993) placed its opinion in the instant case in direct conflict with that of another district court. (A 2). In fact, in its the holding in Weisenfeld, the fifth district also acknowledged its decision was in conflict with the decision of another district court. Weisenfeld decision is currently under review by this Court in Case The opinion with which Weisenfeld expressly and No. 81.653. directly conflicts, i.e., Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Authority v. A.G.W.S. Corporation, 608 So.2d 52 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) (A. 10-17), is also under review before this Court in Case No. 80,656 upon which oral argument was heard on October 8, 1993.

### BASIS FOR EXERCISING JURISDICTION

The DEPARTMENT agrees with the VILLAGE that conflict jurisdiction should be accepted for the following reasons:

A. STATEMENT BY DISTRICT COURT OF EXPRESS CONFLICT.

When rendering its final opinion the district court stated that the decision "expressly conflicts" with <u>A.G.W.S.</u>, 608 So. 2d at 52. While the district court did not use the term "certify" in its statement, it is clear that an invitation to resolve the conflict has been made and that invitation should be accepted.

B. RELIANCE UPON A DECISION WHICH WAS PREVIOUSLY CERTIFIED TO BE IN CONFLICT WITH A.G.W.S.

It its final opinion the district court cited as authority the decision of <u>Department of Transportation v. Weisenfeld</u>, 617 So. 2d at 1071. The majority in <u>Weisenfeld</u> specifically certified that its decision was in conflict with <u>A.G.W.S.</u>. <u>Weisenfeld</u>, 617 So. 2d at 1074. The district court in this case has expressed conflict, and has relied upon a decision which likewise expresses conflict with <u>A.G.W.S.</u>. As such, the conflict jurisdiction of this Court should be exercised.

C. RELIANCE UPON A DECISION WHICH IS CURRENTLY PENDING BEFORE THIS COURT.

The <u>Weisenfeld</u> decision relied upon by the first district, is currently pending before this Court in Case No. 81,653. This Court may, therefore, exercise conflict jurisdiction over the cause at

hand. <u>Jollie v. State</u>, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981); <u>Childers v.</u> Hoffmann-LaRoche, Inc., 540 So. 2d 102 (Fla. 1989).

D. THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT IN THIS CAUSE EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH A.G.W.S. ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

In A.G.W.S. and in this case the owners filed inverse condemnation claims alleging that the imposition of a map of reservation upon their respective properties resulted in a "taking" of property without the payment of full compensation. cases the owners moved for and obtained partial summary judgments on the "taking" issue based upon this Court's decision in Joint Ventures, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 563 So.2d 622 (Fla. 1990). On appeal the Second District Court of Appeal in A.G.W.S. affirmed the granting of the summary judgment on the "taking" issue, finding that such a result was required by the decision in Joint Ventures. The First District Court of Appeal in their case reversed the summary judgment on the same legal issue, citing to Weisenfeld, which held that the decision in Joint Ventures did not determine the "taking" issue. While the DEPARTMENT agrees with the court in Weisenfeld that this Court in Joint Ventures did not find that the filing of a map of reservation resulted in per se takings the opinions are irreconcilable. Given the legal issue presented and the fact that the district courts have resolved that issue in a conflicting manner, jurisdiction should be exercised to resolve that conflict.

#### CONCLUSION

Conflict jurisdiction should be exercised in this cause.